1951

Melvin Wood et al v. Briant E. Ashby et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from a judgment in the District Court of Davis County, State of Utah, rendered by Honorable Charles G. Cowley, Judge. Throughout this brief the parties will be referred to as plaintiffs and defendants as they were in the trial court.

On May 27th, 1949, the plaintiffs filed an action against the above named defendants, and also included Chester R. Ashby and Clara E. Ashby as parties defendant. At the conclusion of the plaintiffs' case, however, the action was dismissed as to the latter, and no appeal has been taken from the dismissal.

In their complaint the plaintiffs allege ownership of the following described real estate in Davis County, State of Utah:

A part of the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 36, Township 5 North, Range 2 West, Salt Lake Meridian, U.S. Survey: Beginning at a point 10 rods and 7 feet, more or less, East from the Southwest corner of said quarter section, being 9 feet West of a certain cement well, and running then North 3 rods, thence East 1 rod, then South $\frac{1}{2}$ rod, thence East 49 rods, more or less, to the end of the pipe line, thence South $2\frac{1}{2}$ rods, more or less, thence West 50 rods, more or less, to the place of beginning.

Together with the right of way over a strip of land $\frac{1}{2}$ rod wide adjoining the above described tract of land and said pipe line on the North, subject, however, to a right of way for road purposes across the above described premises.

Plaintiffs base their title upon a certain deed executed and delivered by John Traugott and wife to James G. Wood, a copy of which is attached to plaintiffs' complaint as Exhibit A, and a certified copy of which is in evidence as plaintiffs' Exhibit B.

The deed in question, in addition to the foregoing description, contains the following provisions:

- (1) "In case of repairs to said pipeline by the

Grantee herein, work must be completed in a reasonable length of time.”

(2) “There is also conveyed with said land all of the right and title to all waters, drainage or springs from the South half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 36, the said Grantor, his successors and assigns *granteeing* full protection to said pipeline from trees, *shrubery* or willows or anything that would hinder or obstruct the free flow of water in same, also full protection from barns, *corals*, outhouses or filth of any kind that would make the water unfit for culinary purposes.”

The plaintiffs also allege in their complaint that they and their predecessors in interest have been in adverse possession of the property since February 6th, 1907, and have continually paid taxes thereon. They further allege that the property in question was purchased, and has been maintained, for the purpose of obtaining water therefrom, and allege that the defendants have been guilty of acts tending to pollute the water supply.

The plaintiffs further allege that they attempted to build a fence along the North side of the pipeline, and that the defendants have torn down the fence and continued to cross the land claimed by the plaintiffs.

To get in mind the true picture, it is essential to understand the location of the land in question and its importance to the defendants.

It will be observed from the deed, Exhibit A, and from the description hereinbefore set forth that the strip of land specifically in controversy is about 2½ rods in width and about 50 rods in length. However, the court found (Findings page 4, paragraph 1) that part

of the said $2\frac{1}{2}$ rods is contained in a public highway. As a matter of fact, the tract of land particularly involved in this dispute is only about one rod in width after the part in the highway is deducted. That rod lies between the pipeline referred to and a public ditch on the South extending East and West along the North boundary of the public highway. Immediately North of, or rather included within the North margin of this one rod, is a drain pipe, installed by the predecessors of the plaintiffs to catch underground drainage water which is collected in a small cistern and piped some distance to the premises of the plaintiffs. This drainage pipe lies under the surface of the ground at depths varying from ten feet to twenty-five feet (TR 63). It is conceded by the plaintiffs that the use of this strip of land for right of way purposes does not in any way interfere with plaintiffs' water rights or the quality of their water (TR 63) and it is alleged in plaintiffs' complaint that "The said property was purchased and has been maintained for the purpose of obtaining water from certain springs thereon" (Complaint page 3 paragraph 12).

The property of the appealing defendants lies immediately to the North of the plaintiffs' pipeline. The land of the defendants Ashby is about 275 feet in depth and about 523 feet in length, except, that prior to the filing of this action, the defendants Ashby had contracted to sell to one Mikesell a tract of land 92.8 feet in width and about 210 feet in depth, abutting on the highway to the South, and located substantially in the center of the Ashby property (TR 114). Mikesell was not made a party to the action although he was in possession at the time the suit was filed (TR 114). The only means of access which

the defendants have to the public highway running East and West, South of the land in controversy, is across the one rod strip in question.

The defendants Christensen own a tract of land running 213.25 feet East and West and 119.6 feet in width lying immediately East of the Ashby property and abutting on the narrow strip of land in controversy. Upon this land the Christensens built a home in 1949. They have lived there ever since (TR 96 and 97). They paid the taxes on their land, including that portion of the land in controversy extending in front of their home, for the year 1949. They must cross the one-rod strip of land in order to get to the public highway on the South (TR 102). They have installed, and have used, outdoor sanitation facilities ever since they have been in possession of the property (TR 100). There is no testimony whatever that any use which the Christensens have made of the property has in any way tended to pollute the water source of the plaintiffs, or to interfere in any manner with the water right claimed by the plaintiffs. The conveyance from Ashbys to Christensens includes that part of the one-rod strip extending East and West, and lying South of the Christensen home.

The principal issue in this case simmers down to the respective rights of the plaintiffs and the appealing defendants in the narrow strip of land about a rod wide extending along the Southern boundary of the land owned by the appealing defendants Ashby and Christensen. Obviously, there can be no issue as to the two rods which constitute a part of the public highway. There is no question but that the plaintiffs and their predecessors in interest have piped away certain drainage water over

a long period of years through the drainage pipe installed under the surface of the North boundary of the rod of land involved herein. There is, of course, included in this case the additional issue of use to be made of the land belonging to the appealing defendants which lies entirely North of the pipeline.

All the land referred to in the pleadings lies within the corporate limits of the city of Clearfield (TR 68).

Prior to the time that the appealing defendants Ashby purchased their property in 1947, it had been used as a farm and orchard, except that part on the Southwest corner occupied by the residence and out-buildings now belonging to Chester Ashby. There never has been a fence between the one rod strip and the property to the North. Over a period of years pigs, chickens, cattle and horses were kept on the property to the North in the near vicinity of the pipeline, and animals roamed at large over the property including the property in controversy (TR 34).

The Ashbys and their predecessors in interest travelled East and West over the one rod strip to and from the orchard and other property lying to the East (TR 33; 145).

Since the Ashby and Christensen property is now located in Clearfield City, its greatest value lies in its use for building lots and the construction of homes (TR 113). Such use, of course, necessitates access to the public highway on the South. In order to get to that highway, it is necessary to cross the one-rod strip of land.

The court in its findings found that the plaintiffs

and their predecessors in interest for more than forty years had been the owners and in possession of, not only the one rod in question, but of that portion lying within the public highway (Findings page 2 paragraph 8). The court further found that the defendants Christensen, "have no right, title or interest and no right to use the property claimed by the plaintiffs as a highway nor for a right of way in connection with the use of the property claimed" by them (Findings of Fact page 8, paragraph 1).

In the conclusions of law the court finds that the appealing defendants Ashby are entitled to a right of way for road purposes crossing the land in controversy "at a point approximately one-half of the distance between the East and West point where the gate exists in the said fence."

In the decree the court quieted the title of the plaintiffs in a tract of land $2\frac{1}{2}$ rods in width and 50 rods in length. This tract includes half of the public road in use by the public generally since time immemorial.

The court further decreed that all the appealing defendants are "permanently restrained from molesting or using the property in any manner contrary to the deed dated February 6, 1907," and directing the defendants "to remove any and all items which may pollute the water supply to a reasonable distance from said property." There are, however, no findings or conclusions as to what may pollute or what has polluted the water.

In fact the court went "all out" and ignored the real provisions of the deed of 1907 reserving the right

of way across the land in controversy.

The effect of the decree is to deprive the Christensens of their right of way to the public road to the South; to prevent those who have purchased land to the North and East of the Christensens from using the road which they have heretofore used in gaining access to the public road to the South, and prevent the crossing of the strip of land in question at all except at a point approximately half way between the well and the East end of the strip described in the old Traugott deed. That obviously means that the Christensens and those East and North of them find themselves completely land-locked. It also means that the defendants can not even travel East and West over the strip of land in question as they have always heretofore crossed it. It further means that it is impossible to make any other use of the defendants' land except for farming and that in one tract, because with any subdivision there must be a right of way across the strip in question for each owner. Clearly, the real effect of the court's decision is to land-lock the land of the appealing defendants so as to enable the plaintiffs to make defendants' property inaccessible and comparatively valueless.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON FOR REVERSAL OF JUDGMENT

The points relied upon by appellants for reversal of the judgment of the lower court are as follows:

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS CONSTRUCTION OF THE TRAUGOTT DEED (PLAINTIFFS' EXHIBIT B) IN THAT THE COURT PLACED AN UNWARRANTED AND

UNREASONABLE CONSTRUCTION UPON SAID DEED BY LIMITING THE RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE ONE ROD STRIP OF LAND TO A POINT NEAR THE CENTER OF THE ASHBY PROPERTY, AND EXCLUDING THE APPEALING DEFENDANTS FROM ACCESS TO AND FROM CROSSING SAID BORDER STRIP IN ANY OTHER MANNER WHATSOEVER.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANTS CHRISTENSEN HAVE NO RIGHT OF WAY ACROSS OR RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE PREMISES COVERED BY THE TRAUGOTT DEED OF 1907.

POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN ENTERING THE FOLLOWING FINDINGS: No. 8 ON PAGE 2 OF ITS FINDINGS; No. 11 ON PAGE 3; No. 1 ON PAGE 4; No. 2 ON PAGE 4, 5, AND 6; No. 5 ON PAGE 7; No. 1 ON PAGE 8; No. 6 ON PAGE 10; No. 7 ON PAGE 10, BECAUSE SAID FINDING ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN ENTERING THE FOLLOWING CONCLUSIONS OF LAW: No. 1 ON PAGE 10 AND 11 OF THE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS; No. 2 PAGE 11; No. 5 PAGE 11.

POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING THE DEFENDANTS TO REMOVE ANY AND ALL ITEMS WHICH MAY POLLUTE THE WATER SUPPLY TO A REASONABLE DISTANCE FROM THE SAID WATER SUPPLY WITHOUT FINDING WHICH ITEMS, IF ANY, EXISTING UPON ANY OF THE PROPERTY WILL OR MAY POLLUTE THE WATER SUPPLY.

POINT VI

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RESTRAIN

PLAINTIFFS FROM BUILDING A FENCE OR OTHER OBSTRUCTIONS ALONG OR UPON THE ONE ROD STRIP OF LAND.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN ITS CONSTRUCTION OF THE TRAUGOTT DEED (PLAINTIFFS' EXHIBIT B) IN THAT THE COURT PLACED AN UNWARRANTED AND UNREASONABLE CONSTRUCTION UPON SAID DEED BY LIMITING THE RIGHT OF ACCESS TO THE ONE ROD STRIP OF LAND TO A POINT NEAR THE CENTER OF THE ASHBY PROPERTY, AND EXCLUDING THE APPEALING DEFENDANTS FROM ACCESS TO AND FROM CROSSING SAID BORDER STRIP IN ANY OTHER MANNER WHATSOEVER.

The proper approach to a question of this character is set forth in the case of *Sakansky, et al, vs. Wein, et al*, (N.H.) 169 Atl. 1. The court said:

“In this state the respective rights of dominant and servient owners are not determined by reference to some technical and more or less arbitrary rule of property law as expressed in some ancient maxim . . . but are determined by the rule of reason. The application of this rule raises a question of fact to be determined by consideration of all the surrounding circumstances, including the location and uses of both dominant and servient estates, and taking into consideration the advantage to be derived by one and the disadvantage to be suffered by the other one. The rule is one of interpretation. Its office is either to give a meaning to words which the parties and their predecessors in title have actually used . . . or else to give a detailed definition of rights created by general words actually used or whose existence is implied by law.”

The trial court appears to have considered more than anything else the use to which the one rod strip next to the highway had been put by the various parties and their predecessors in interest for crop production. Little attention was given to the right of way provisions of the deed or the use of the strip by the defendants for road purposes. Instead of construing the deed the court appears to have been guided by the thought that the law as applied to prescriptive rights was controlling.

The law is well settled to the effect that “a right of way by grant derives no strength from time or occupancy. A grant of yesterday is of equal validity to that of a century past and even though the way may never have been enjoyed, the grant is conclusive of the right.” 17 Am. Jurs. 939, Section 26.

A right of way created by express reservation in a conveyance stands upon the same basis as a grant.

“A reservation of an easement in the deed by which the lands are covered is equivalent, for the purpose of the creation of the easement, to an express grant of the easement by the grantee of the lands.” Brown et al. vs. Christopher et al, 67 Utah 278, 247 Pac 503.

“Thus, a right of way may be created by a reservation. It has been held that a reservation of an easement in the deed by which lands are conveyed is equivalent, for the purpose of the creation of the easement, to an express grant of the easement by the grant of the lands . . .”

“The general doctrine of reservation of easements has been stated as follows: When it appears by the true construction of the terms of the grant that it was the well-understood purpose of the

parties to create or reserve a right, in the nature of a servitude or easement, in the property granted, for the benefit of other land owned by the grantor, no matter in what form such purpose may be expressed, whether it is in the form of a condition, or covenant, or reservation, or exception, such right, if not against public policy, will be held to be appurtenant to the land of the grantor and binding on that conveyed to the grantee, and the right and burden thus created and imposed will pass with the lands to all subsequent grantees; and any grantee of the land to which such right is appurtenant acquires, by his grant, a right to have the servitude easement, or right of amenity, as it is sometimes called protected in equity, notwithstanding his right may not rest on a covenant which as a matter of law runs with the title to his land and notwithstanding it may also be true that he may not be able to maintain an action at law for the vindication of his right." 17 Am. Jurs. page 942-943 Section 29.

It was conceded, of course, by the plaintiffs in the trial of the case, that the defendants Ashby are entitled to a right of way for road purposes over the narrow strip of land covered by the Traugott deed. As a matter of fact, the plaintiffs relied in the trial of the case upon the Traugott deed to establish ownership of the property, and the controversy between the parties should have simmered down to the construction of the Traugott deed. The defendants conceded that the plaintiffs have the water rights contended for, but took the position that they (the plaintiffs) had the right to the unrestricted use of their land not within the Traugott deed, and the right to travel East and West as well as North and South over the narrow strip.

The trial court took the position that the land on

the North as it abuts on the narrow strip extending between the pipeline and the public road is entitled to but one point of access to the buffer strip, and that as a crossing North and South. Furthermore, the court took the position that when Ashby sold part of the land to Christensens that the latter obtained no right of access whatsoever to the narrow strip in question although Ashbys deeded to Christensens the land lying between the Christensen home and the South quarter section line. It follows that any further tracts sold by Ashbys must go to the grantees without any right of access to the highway to the South if the decree stands.

The narrow construction given by the trial court to the rights of the defendants cannot be justified.

One having an easement by grant may assign that easement, and it goes to every portion of the dominate estate assigned, however many the tenants may be. Methodist Protestant Church vs. Laws 7 Ohio CC 21, 4 Ohio CD 562.

In the old but leading case of Hills vs Miller, 2 Paige 245, 3 Am. Dec. 218, it is stated that "as the right is annexed to the estate for the benefit of which the easement or servitude is created, the right is not destroyed by a division of the estate to which it is appurtenant. And the owner or assignee of any portion of that estate may claim the right so far as it is applicable to his part of the property, provided the right can be enjoyed as to the separate parcels without any additional charge or burden to the proprietor or the servient tenement."

It should be kept in mind that at the time of the original grant of the right of way the dominant estate con-

sisted of all of the land immediately North of the narrow strip over which the right of way for road purposes was reserved, with other premises — 40 acres in all. Furthermore, we direct attention to the fact that where a reservation for right of way is made, the grantee in the deed is in effect the grantor against whom the provisions should be construed strictly since the reservation is really a grant for the benefit of the dominant tenement. In construing the Traugott deed this background must be considered.

There is no evidence whatever that there was any established road way across the narrow strip at the time the reservation was made, nor is there any evidence to the effect that there is now an established road running East and West or North and South across the strip in question, except the Christensen road and one farther East. The only evidence is that there is a gate in the fence along the South side of the strip next to the canal and the public highway, and this was used by the Woods to gain access to their pipe line, and by Mikesell to whom Ashbys had contracted to sell a tract of land before the filing of the law suit. There never has been any defined "right of way for road purposes" across the premises.

There must, therefore, be a judicial determination of what is the real extent of defendandts' right of way.

"In cases where the construction of a deed is in doubt the language should be construed favorably to the Grantee. First Baptist soc. v. Wetherall, 34 RI 155, 82 Atl. 1061; Gaddes vs. Pautucket Inst., for Sav., 4 RI 177, 80 Atl. 415, Ann Gas. 1913 B 407. This rule of construction is not altered because the portion of the deed construed grants an easement 19 CJ 907, Section 94." Mateodo et al. vs. Capaldi et al. (RI) 138 Atl. 138, 53 ALR 550,

at 552.

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