1952

Melvin Wood et al v. Briant E. Ashby et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE ISSUE

The Brief of the defendant and appellant states the facts of the case adequately with the further explanation that Mikesell was not made a party to the action as

Mikesell's property had been purchased by one of the respondents. As to the taxes as mentioned on page five of plaintiffs' brief, it was stipulated by the parties in open court that the taxes had been paid by the respondents since 1907 on the strip of property in question the property from the year 1933 until the present time. The taxes on this property had been paid double since 1933. (Tr. 7).

The principal issue as presented by the appellants "simmers down to the respective rights of the plaintiffs and the appealing defendants in the narrow strip of land about a rod wide extending along the Southern boundary of the land owned by the appealing defendants Ashby and Christensen." The nature and effect of the Court's Findings, Conclusions and Decree as presented by the appellant on pages 6 and 7 of appellants' brief are somewhat in error in that that portion of the property lying within the public highway was specifically excluded in Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on page four paragraph one.

The appellants state that the court found further that the defendant Christensens "have no right, title or interest and no right to use the property claimed by the plaintiffs as a highway or for a right of way in connection with the use of the property claimed." We find in the Decree that "It is further ordered, adjusted and decreed that the said defendants have no estate, right, title or interest whatever in to said land and premises except as stated in said deed and that the title of plaintiffs is good and valid." (Page 2 of Decree). This gives the defendants the right to the right of way for road purposes across the property at a point approxi-

mately one-half the distance between the East and West points where the gate exists in the said fence. The appellants further state on page 7 of their brief that there are no findings or conclusions as to what may pollute or what has polluted the water. On page 3 of the Findings of Fact, the court found "that the defendants Briant E. Ashby and Isabell C. Ashby have within the year before the filing of this action either moved upon said property or permitted the moving thereon of pigpens * * * and that one said pigpen has been placed immediately adjacent to the well house which said pigpen was completely or nearly completely upon the above described property."

Further, the appellants say that the Decree in effect deprives those who purchase land to the North and East of Christensens from using the road which they have heretofore used in getting access to the public road to the South and prevents the crossing of the strip of land in question at all except at a point approximately one-half way between the well and East end of the strip described in the old Traugott deed. That this means that the Christensens and those East and North find themselves completely landlocked. This is not true in that parties North could use the right of way at the half-way mark. Christensens' property is very near to the East end of the respondents' property. Christensens' home is at least forty-three feet back from the road and is well back from the Wood property.

POINT I

The Respondents contend that the findings and decree which limit the right of way over the Wood property to the location "at a point approximately one-half of the

distance between the East and West points where the gate exists in the said fence” is proper and is supported by the evidence. Appellants contend that they are entitled to use respondents’ land as they see fit going East and West on the land as well as making many roadways from North and South. Point one upon which the appellants request a reversal of judgment is concerned with the construction of a deed. We quote from the Traugott deed:

“Reserving, however, to said grantors a right of way for road purposes *across* the above-described premises.” (*italics ours*).

The location of that crossing is shown by the only gate in the South fence which was approximately one-half way between the East and West points and from that gate across the land was the only evident roadway, there being no evidence of a road or travel East and West on the said property. Respondent had never objected to the use of this right of way across the property. We quote the following law, to-wit:

“It is said in *Ritchey v. Welsh*, 149 Ind. 214, 48 N.E. 1031, that: ‘When the way is once selected it cannot be changed by either party without the consent of the other’: Citing *Nichols v. Luce*, 24 Pick. 102, 5 Am. Dec. 302; *Holmes v. Seely*, 19 Wend. 507, 510; *Morris vs. Edgington*, 3 Taunt, 24; *Goddard’s Law of Easements*, Bennett’s Ed., 351. See, also, 2 *Washburn on Real Property*, 4th ed., 306; *Washburn on Easements and Servitudes*, 4th ed., 258, 263.

‘Where the right to an easement is granted without giving definite location and description to it, the

exercise of the easement in a particular course or manner, with the consent of both parties, renders it fixed and certain, and the dominant owner has no right afterward to make changes affecting its location, extent, or character': 10 Am. & Eng. Ency. of Law, 2d Ed., 430 and cases cited in note 3'' 95 Am. St. Rep., Page 317.

“1. Change of Location.—When a private right of way has been once selected and located, its location cannot be changed by either party; neither the owner of the land nor the owner of the easement, without the consent of the other party: *Ritchey v. Welsh*, 149 Ind. 214, 48 N.E. 1031; *Manning v. Port Reading R.R. Co.*, 54 N.J. Eq. 46 33 Atl. 802; *Galloway v. Wilder*, 26 Mich. 96. If a right of way is granted without any designation of the place, it becomes located by usage for a length of time, and, after being so located, it cannot afterward be changed by the grantor without the consent of the grantee: *Wynkoop v. Binger*, 12 Johns. 222. The location of a private way determined by agreement, usage, or acquiescence cannot be changed by one party without the consent of the other: *Kurmuller v. Krotz*, 18 Iowa, 353. The grantee of a right of way has no right to change its location as often as he may think necessary or at will: *Moorhead v. Snyder*, 31 Pa. St. 514. 95 Am. St. Rep. 323.

Appellants have claimed that Christensens have used a road extending from their house to the highway. The Christensens did not buy their land nor build their house until after appellant Briant E. Ashby bought the property in 1947. There is no evidence that the pre-

decessors in interest to Ashby ever claimed any right of way except through the one gate. The testimony of the witness Joyce Harrop, who was one of the owners from whom the appellants purchased, testified that he had traveled East and West to the orchard. Upon being asked where he traveled, he pointed on the plat to an area North of the pipeline and the property owned by Woods. (Tr. 151). The intention of Traugott in his conveyance to Wood to give a fee simple to the property with the reservation of the right of way was evidenced by the testimony of David Warren who had lived in Clearfield for sixty-nine years and who had worked for Traugott and who had been informed by Traugott that he was to cultivate the Traugott land to the pipeline but not to go South of there because the land to the South belonged to Jim Wood. (Tr. 133). Mr. Warren is a disinterested party and his testimony indicates that the intention was to give no more easement to the property but an absolute ownership to James G. Wood.

Appellants cite case after case to the effect that “the subsequent owner of a part of such tenement has the right to use the way as appurtenant to his particular part of the land. They contend that purchasers from Ashby have the benefit of the reservation for road purposes. This is correct, but it is a right to use for road purposes *that particular* roadway or right of way through the gate and across the property. The reservation cannot be extended by giving as many rights of way as Ashby and his successors may desire.

“Thus where a deed conveys an easement over certain land but fails to locate exactly the line over which the easement extends, parol evidence has been

held admissable so to locate it. The general rule is that the location of an easement once selected cannot be changed by either the land owner or the easement owner without the other's consent. The reason for this rule is that treating the location as variable, would incite litigation and depreciate the value and discourage the improvement of the land upon which the easement is charged. Accordingly, a definite location of an easement determines and limits the right of the grantee so that he cannot again exercise a choice * * * Although the owner of an easement, such as a right of way, may do whatever is reasonably necessary to make it suitable and convenient for his use, he is not entitled to deviate therefrom." 17 Am. Juris. 988-9.

As a general rule, the location of a way of necessity may be determined by an agreement which need not be in writing, but may be inferred from words or conduct, for example, where parties build a line fence up to the side of a road, but do not build across the road, setting a bar or gatepost on the side thereof, they will be held to have agreed upon such road as the location of a way of necessity." 17 Am. Juris. 991-2.

In the Wood case we have not only a gatepost but a gate. The location has been fixed.

"There is a rule, however, to the effect that the court should not change the location of a way after such has been fixed. * * * As already stated, with respect to easements in general, it is well settled that when the location of a way of necessity is once de-

fixed, both parties are bound by the lines so fixed; the owner of the dominant estate is not entitled to use any other way. The situation is the same as if there had been an express grant of the particular way. * * * Moreover, after the location of such a way has been fixed, a court will not change it. * * * ”
1 7Am. Juris. 991, Sections 94 & 95.

In Hewitt vs. Parry, 34 N.E. (2) 489 cited by the appellants, we are concerned only with one easement and no others.

In Sakansky et al. vs. Vein et al., N.H. 169 Atl., 1 also cited by the appellants as the law, allow us to read further in this case and on page three the court says:

“The rule merely refuses to give unreasonable rights or to impose unreasonably burdens, when the parties, either actually or by legal implication, have spoken generally.”

Paragraph 6 on Page 3 reads as follows:

“In the case at bar the parties are bound by a contract which not only gave the dominant owner a way across the servient estate for the purpose of access to the rear of its premises, but also gave that way definite location upon the ground. The use which the plaintiff may make of the way is limited by the bounds of reason, but within those bounds it has the unlimited right to travel over the land set apart for a way. *It has no right to insist upon the use of any other land of the defendants for a way, regardless of how necessary such other land may be to it and regardless; of how little change or inconvenience such use of the defendant's land might oc-*

casion to them.” (italics ours).

The above case was one where a deed gave a definite right of way 18 feet wide over some land in 1849. The case was decided in 1933. The land owner desired to build an arch and then

“Lay out a new way over level ground around the westerly end of the new building * * * to the same point on the dominant estate as the old way.”

The master permitted both changes. The Supreme Court states that the road could not be changed.

We quote from *American Brass Company vs. Serra*, 132 Atl. 656 which is also cited by the appellants.

“The company in so doing used, without objection or hindrance, a passageway five or six feet wide over the servient tract. Since that time (1888-89) (these figures are not in the quote) this way has been clearly visible as evidenced by a well-defined course of wheel tracks * * * and by bars across the tracks at the entrance into the highway. As the grant of the passway did not fix the route, its location was apparently determined and thus established, in accord with the reasonable convenience of the dominant and servient owner, by practical location and use by the grantee, acquiesced in by the grantor at the time.”

Adams vs. Hodgkins 85 Atl., 530, is cited by the appellants. This case deals only with the question of ways necessity and abandonment. There is no similarity to the case at bar. *Peck vs. Mackowsky* 82 Atl. 199 is cited by the appellants to show that the reservation for

right of way annexed to two parcels of ground. May it be pointed out, however; that the court held in that case that the two parcels of ground had a right to use the *one* passageway. In *Bowers, et al. vs. Myers, et al.*, 85 Atl., 860, no reference is made to additional right of ways.

Methodist Protestant Church vs. Laws 7 Ohio CC 21, 4 Ohio GS 562 cited by appellants merely points out that the tenants of a dominant estate may use *the* right of way however many the tenants may be. I call your attention to the bottom of page 13 of plaintiffs' brief in quoting the above which among other things states:

“Provided the right can be enjoyed as to the separate parcels without any additional charge or burden to the proprietor or the servient tenement.”

We find no case, however, giving separate easements. It might be added that

“In construing any grant of a right of way the use in connection and extent is limited to such as is reasonably necessary and convenient to the dominant estate and as little burdensome as to the servient estate as possible for the use contemplated.” *Morris vs. Blunt* 161 P. 1127.

Also see *Nielsen vs. Sandberg*, 141 P. (2) 696 which holds that:

“An easement being a burden on the land which it traverses is limited to use by which it was acquired and to the person who acquired it or for the benefit of the property for which it was acquired.”

A Utah case in point says:

“The extent of an easement is determined by the

grant and once the character has been fixed no material change or enlargement of the right acquired can be made if thereby a greater burden is placed on the servient estate." Big Cottonwood Taylor Ditch Co. vs. Doyle 159 P. (2) 596 as modified 174 P. (2) 148.

"Failure to definitely locate and describe an easement does not give grantee right to use servient estate without limitation." Cullison vs. Hotel Seaside, 268 Pac. 758. In this same case "over grantor's land" was held to mean in a convenient, *direct* way.

Minto vs. Salem Water Light & Power Company, 250 P. 722; an Oregon case, held that the extent of the easement depended upon the proper construction of a grant without consideration of extraneous circumstances where the language was unambiguous.

As to how the deed should be construed, Eastman vs. Church 219 S.W. (2) 406, a Kentucky case, holds that if an ambiguity or awkward provision in a deed including reservation or exception is capable of two possible constructions one of which will be more favorable to grantee and the other to grantor all doubts are reserved in favor of grantee and the deed so construed. May we point out that Woods predecessors in interest were the grantees in the Traugott deed.

Appellant states that the court's decision limits the right of way so as to be beneficial to only one narrow tract. This is not true. All the appellants need to do is use a portion of his own land as a roadway down to the right of way provided in the Decree of the court and as provided by the Traugott deed. It is apparent however, that the appellants prefer to travel over respond-

ents property destroying the use of that land rather than to apportion a small portion of their own land for a roadway. As evidence that consideration was given to using their own land for roadway we find that shortly after this property was purchased by the appellants he had contacted a Mr. Smith and a Mr. Allred and arranged for a building plan and arranged for a street to go through the center part of the land owned by the Ashbys lying North of the pipeline. See testimony of Mr. Briant Ashby. (Tr. 122). May I quote from his testimony:

“Q. At one time, Mr. Ashby, you were attempting and you did arrange for a building plan, and you did arrange for a street to go along through the center part of the land lying North of the pipeline didn't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. I take it you went so far as to employ Allred to build that building.

A. Yes sir.

Q. At that time you had a road running in an irregular line running down through the property at the center.

A. I had about three different plans.

Q. And you had a building facing this proposed new street?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And you had those building lots extended as far South and only as far South to the pipe line didn't you?

A. Yes sir.

Q. And you told Mr. Smith and Mr. Allred that you were only to extend the lots to the pipeline didn't you?

A. Providing there was an agreement made on that street and on that right of way." (Tr. 123).

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